SENATE FI NANCE COWM TTEE
April 3, 2017
9:19 a. m

9:19:10 AM

CALL TO ORDER

Senator Anna MacKi nnon called the Senate Finance Committee
nmeeting to order at 9:19 a.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senat or Lyman Hof f man, Co- Chair
Senat or Anna MacKi nnon, Co-Chair
Senator Cick Bishop, Vice-Chair
Senat or M ke Dunl eavy

Senator Peter M cciche

Senat or Donny O son

Senat or Nat asha von | mhof

VEMBERS ABSENT

None

ALSO PRESENT

Juli Lucky, Staff, Senator Anna MacKinnon; Senator John

Coghill, Sponsor; Jordan Shilling, Staff, Senator John
Coghill; John Skidnore, Crimnal D vision, Departnent of
Law.

PRESENT VI A TELECONFERENCE

Quinlan Steiner, Public Defender Agency, Anchorage.
SUMVARY
SB 54 CRI ME AND SENTENCI NG

CSSB 54(FIN) was REPORTED out of conmttee wth
"no recomendat i on" and with one new
indeterminate fiscal note from the Departnment of
Corrections and four previously published zero
fiscal notes: FN1 (DPS), FN2 (LAW, FN3 (DHS),
and FN5 (AJS).



HB 57 APPROP: OPERATI NG BUDGET/ LOANS/ FUNDS

HB 57 was SCHEDULED but not HEARD.

HB 59 APPROP: MENTAL HEALTH BUDGET

HB 59 was SCHEDULED but not HEARD.

#sb54
SENATE BILL NO. 54

"An Act relating to crine and crimnal law, relating
to violation of condition of release; relating to sex
trafficking; relating to sentencing; relating to
probation; relating to the pretrial services program
and providing for an effective date.”

9:19:45 AM

Co- Chair MacKi nnon noted that the public hearing had been
taken on the legislation on March 28, 1017.

Vice-Chair Bishop MONWED to ADOPT proposed comittee
substitute for SB 54, Wrk Draft 30-LS0461\N (Martin,
3/ 31/ 17).

Co- Chai r MacKi nnon OBJECTED for di scussion

9:20: 30 AM

JULI LUCKY, STAFF, SENATOR ANNA MACKI NNON, explained that
the CS incorporated the anendnents that were previously
adopted by the commttee and could be found in Sections 18
and 19.

Co- Chai r MacKi nnon W THDREW her QIBEJCTI ON

There being NO further OBJECTIQON, it was so ordered.

9:21: 50 AM

Co-Chair Hoffman MOVED to ADOPT Anendment 1, 30-LS0461\N.1
(Martin, 3/31/17)(copy on file).

Co- Chair MacKi nnon OBJECTED for di scussi on.

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 2 04/03/17 9:19 A M



Co-Chair Hoffman explained that the anmendnent offered a
conprom se between the 90-day and 360-day sentencing
| evel s.

Co-Chair MacKinnon invited the sponsor to speak to the
amendnent .

9:23: 04 AM

SENATOR JOHN COGHI LL, SPONSOR, relayed that he supported
the anmendnent. He stated that the Alaska Crimnal Justice
Comm ssion (ACJC) had debated the issue hotly. He hoped
that a sentencing range could be found that held people
accountable for C felonies, and those who should be offered
ot her diversionary sentencing under a court order. He felt
that the anendnent gave significant discretion to judges,
while staying true to the principle of diversion.

9: 24: 38 AM

JORDAN SHI LLI NG STAFF, SENATOR JOHN COGHI LL, agreed wth
t he sponsor and added that the anendnent would address the
conflicts with the DU statute raised by the Departnent of
Law.

Senat or Dunl eavy asked about sentencing ranges in other
st ates.

M. Coghill replied that he could not answer the question
at this tine.

9:25:25 AM

JOHN  SKI DMORE, CRIM NAL DI VI SI ON, DEPARTMENT OF LAW
testified that the anendnent would address conflict wth
the DU statute in an appropriate manner. He said that the
department was concerned with the amount of discretion that
the anmendnment would provide to judges. He said that when
| ooki ng at the ranges of what other states do for |owlevel
felonies, Alaska was the lowest in the nation for the
sentencing discretion given to judges. He relayed that with
t he anendnent the state would still be one of the |lowest in
the nation for sentencing discretion. He stressed that the
departnment respected that the issue was a policy decision
that the legislature had to nake but asked that when
setting appropriate policy, the legislature consider the

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 3 04/03/17 9:19 A M



i ssues surrounding rehabilitation for substance abuse and
viol ent crines.

9:30: 05 AM

Senat or von | mhof wondered how "l ow | evel offender" related
to "first tine offender". She said that the conversation
was about first-tinme offenders and not | ow | evel offenders.

M. Skidnmore clarified that when he used the term "Il ow

level™ he was referring to the classification of the
of fense. He continued that Cass C felonies were the |owest
|l evel felony that existed within the state. He expl ai ned

that the state's presunptive sentencing schene began by
saying that a first-time felony offense had a certain
presunption, a second felony had another, and a third or
above had yet another. He reiterated that a first-tine
felony offence neant that the person had not had a prior
felony within the past ten years; a first-time felony
offence did not nean that a person did not have a prior
crimnal history.

9:32: 01 AM

Senator von | nmhof stated that second and third fel onies had
significant sentencing in accordance with the bill. She
thought it was inportant to highlight that they discussion
was bout first-tine offenders. She understood that nost
| ow- 1 evel also neant first-tine in npbst states.

M. Skidnore answered in the affirmative. He shared that
when he had reviewed the practice of other states, there
had been 26 that had a range for first-time, |owlevel
felonies, from zero to 1 year all the way to zero to 20
years. He added that an additional 14 states that required
some jailtime, whether it was a year or six nonths, up to
14 years. He concluded that nost other states provided a
wi der discretion for their courts that Al aska currently
di d.

9:33:21 AM

Senator von |Imhof asked about active jail tinme and
rehabilitation progranms. She wondered why a rehabilitation
program could not |ast beyond 190 days, especially it the
program was successful. She though that jailtinme and rehab
prograns should be one in the sane.

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 4 04/03/17 9:19 A M



M. Skidnore replied that the authority of the court to
order specific sentencing guidelines was the main question,
and how long the court could order soneone to be in a
residential rehabilitation program He said that if the
commttee were to adopt a range of zero to 120 days the
courts would be Ilimted in ordering a defendant to
residential treatnent to 120 days. He reconmmended that the
conmi ttee consider the amount of residential treatnment that
the court would be authorized to order. He said that if it
were decided to authorize nore than 120 days, a presunptive
range for active jailtinme of nore than 120 days would be
necessary for authorization under Al aska case | aw.

9:35:18 AM

Co-Chair Hof frman understood that successful rehabilitation
occurred when individuals were wlling participants, and
that those that were court ordered had | ower success rates.

9: 36: 05 AM

Senat or Dunl eavy  wonder ed about judge's sent enci ng
di scretion for nore serious violent crines.

M. Skidnore stressed that the Departnent of Law was not in
support of the amendnment. He said that the departnent
believed that zero to 1 year was the appropriate discretion
that ought to be provided to the courts. He reiterated that
the policy decision before the conmttee was whether or not
to adopt an active range of zero to 120 days, or zero to 1
year .

9:37:35 AM

Senator Dunl eavy understood that under the anendnment, 120
days would be the maxi num sentence for even nore serious
and violent crines.

M. Skidnore replied in the affirmative.

Senat or Dunl eavy understood that a judge would not be able
to go beyond the 120-day cap.

M. Skidnore answered in the affirmati ve.

9: 38: 30 AM

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 5 04/03/17 9:19 A M



Senator M cciche understood that the anendnent offered 18
nmonths of potential inprisonment but 120 days of active
i npri sonnent .

M. Skidnore replied in the affirmative.

Senator Mcciche clarified that there had been precedence
set that defined residential treatnment as inprisonnent.

M. Skidnore restated that the case was Nygren v. State of
Al aska (1980).

Senator Mcciche said that he wanted to help with nore
active intervention in drug related crines.

M. Skidnore referred back to an earlier exanple case, in
whi ch an individual was convicted of theft in the second
degree - a theft of over $1000. He said that there had not
been another conviction nmade and the original theft had
been determned to be the result of supporting a drug
habit. The offender had violated probation by continuing to
use controlled substances and he had recommended that the
court send themto residential treatnent. He said that the
defense had argued that the original offense had been a
Class C felony, which neant that the judge did not have the
authority to inpose jailtine or send the offender to
residential treatnent.

9:41: 14 AM

Senator M cciche wondered whether the Nygern case could
result in a statutory change.

M. Skidnore stated that Nygren was an ol der case and he
could not recall the exact prenmse upon which it was
deci ded. He was unsure whether a sinple statute alteration
woul d be able to address the issue.

9:42: 35 AM

Vi ce-Chair Bishop asked whether M. Skidnore had an idea of
how long it took an offender to get in to residential
treat ment.

M. Skidnore relayed that the comm ssion had identified a

need for nore treatnment progranms in the state. He
understood that there was a waiting period to get into

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 6 04/03/17 9:19 A M



residential treatnent progranms. He reiterated that the
i ssue at hand was whet her judges should have the authority,
and the next issue would be whether the resources would be
avai l abl e to serve that authority.

Vi ce-Chair Bishop pointed out that regardless of whether a
judge had the authority, if there were no resources to
carry out the ternms of the sentence then the point was
noot .

9:44:11 AM

Senator von Inhof reiterated concern that there were enough
beds to accommpdate court ordered rehab.

M. Skidnore could not speak to whether there were enough
beds or not, he shared that he had heard talk that there
were not enough wthin state. He shared that many
individuals left the state for residential treatnent. He
felt that serving those people in-state would be a better
scenario. He stressed the inportance of providing wthin
the | aw and appropriate framework for judges to act.

9:45: 33 AM

Senator von |Inmhof <categorized the 1-year cap as a
bar gai ni ng tool for the departnent and queried whether that
cap would inprove recidivism nunbers. She wondered whet her
120 days was enough of a bargaining tool for the departnent
to get a fair suite of options to address certain crines.
She asked where the presunptive range of zero to 18 nonth
woul d apply.

M. Skidnmore responded that 90 to 95 percent of the cases
in the crimnal justice system were resolved through plea
negotiations. He said that if the negotiations started with
only probation then that would be taken off the table
during negotiations. He stressed that sone incentive had to
be offered in order to negotiate wthout reducing the
offence from a felony to a m sdeneanor. He said that this
reduction would nean the difference between supervised and
unsupervised probation, which was related to offenders
following their terns of probation. He reiterated that it
was a question of what was appropriate for public safety.

9:48: 27 AM

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 7 04/03/17 9:19 A M



M. Skidnore said that wunder the proposed anendnent 18
nmonth was the amount of time that could be suspended; the
court could inpose a sentence of 18 nonths with all but 120
days suspended. He furthered that the 120 days woul d be the
jailtime that a person would serve wupfront and the
additional time suspended would be the potential sanctions
that would be inposed for violations of conditions of
probation. The court would not be authorized to inpose
additional active jailtime absent a violation of probation
under the anmendnent.

9:49: 26 AM
AT EASE

9:50: 21 AM
RECONVENED

Senat or Dunleavy queried whether the Ofice of Victins
Ri ghts supported the anendnent.

M. Skidnmore replied that he had not spoken to the office
since the amendnent had been proposed. He said that in
previ ous conversations the office had supported the 1-year
cap that was currently found in the | egislation.

9:50: 55 AM

Senator M cciche assunmed that every prosecutor in the state
woul d attenpt to procure the maxi num | evel of incarceration
and that every defense attorney would attenpt the | owest
nunber of days of incarceration.

M. Skidnore stated that it would be a mstake to assune
that prosecutors would advocate for the highest anmount of
incarceration. He provided two supporting stories. He
stressed that SB 54 was proposing half of the past cap

when the data reflected that the average of the nmajority of
past cases was 120 days. He understood that this would seem
to suggest that 120 days was the right nunber to choose but
he highlighted the 120 days was an average and that the
courts needed to retain discretion to address cases on a
case by case basis.

9:53:44 AM
AT EASE

9:54: 06 AM

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 8 04/03/17 9:19 A M



RECONVENED

Co- Chair MacKi nnon solicited coments on the anendnent from
Qui nl an St ei ner, Di rector, Publ i c Def ender Agency,
Depart ment of Adm nistration.

QUI NLAN STEI NER, PUBLIC DEFENDER AGENCY, ANCHORAGE (via
tel econference), he believed that it was inportant that the

commttee consider t hat over sentencing | ower-1evel
of fenders could cause them to fail at rehabilitation
attenpts; the when confronted by the system sone
i ndividuals responded negatively. He noted that the
anmendnent woul d i ncrease costs and under m ne t he
availability of treatnment for individuals that were not
going to jail. He Ilamented that one of the biggest

challenged in the state was the availability of treatnent
when a person was ready. He said that with the proposal of
120 days, with up to 18 nonths suspended, up to 18 nonths
in jail could be inposed for a violation and the nore
nmodest approach in terns of rehabilitation could be taken
at the C Felony conviction, other alternatives could be
avai l able including longer-term treatnent. He stated that
the average sentences described by M. Skidnore had
resulted in very high recidivism rates. He believed that
the 120 days struck a balance between the comunity
condemnmati on angl e and maxi m zing public safety.

9:57:48 AM

Senator Mcciche suggested that a first time Cdass C
of fender would be nore likely to becone a second tine C ass
C offender than a person who had never conmtted an
of f ense.

M. Qinlan replied that he did not recall any data that
suggested that the level of a person's first offense would
make a difference in the |l evel of a second offense.

Senator M cciche asked whether the categories of C felonies
should be examned in the future. He wondered whether the
sentencing ranges for C felonies should be split between
crimes that involved weapons from the other C felony
crines.

M. Quinlan stated that the comm ssion had discussed the

concept but did not recall data to substantiate that
differentiating would have any benefit. He said that often

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 9 04/03/17 9:19 A M



the driving force in nost cases was drugs or alcohol. He
t hought that further discussion of the issue could be of
interest to the conm ssion.

10: 00: 54 AM
AT EASE

10: 01: 03 AM
RECONVENED

Co-Chair Hoffman recapped the various opinions surrounding
t he amendment .

Co-Chair Hoffman W THDREW Anendnent 1. There being NO
OBJECTION, it was so ordered.

10: 02: 35 AM

Vi ce-Chair Bi shop thought that there was room for
inprovenent in the area of presunptive ranges and the
Nygren Rul e. He enphasi zed the inportance of rehabilitation
prograns for Class C offenders. He believed that many of
the public safety issues in the state were drug and al cohol
rel at ed.

10: 04: 54 AM

Senat or Dunl eavy stressed that the issue was not an "exact
science." He expressed appreciation for the work that had
so far been done on the issues surrounding public safety.

10: 05: 54 AM

Vice-Chair Bishop MOWWED to report CSSB 54(FIN) out of
Commi ttee W th i ndi vi dual recommendat i ons and t he
acconpanyi ng fiscal notes.

There being NO OBJECTION, it was so ordered.

CSSB 54(FIN) was REPORTED out of comittee wth "no
recommendation” and with one new indetermnate fiscal note
from the Departnent of Corrections and four previously
published zero fiscal notes: FN1L (DPS), FN2 (LAW, FN3
(DHS), and FN5 (AJS).

10: 06: 25 AM
AT EASE

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 10 04/03/17 9:19 A M



10: 09: 30 AM
RECONVENED

Co- Chai r MacKi nnon di scussed housekeepi ng.

#
ADJ OQURNIVENT
10: 10: 19 AM

The neeting was adjourned at 10:10 a. m

Senat e Fi nance Comm ttee 11 04/03/17 9:19 A M



